# LIGNIN BIOSYNTHESIS

# Wout Boerjan<sup>1</sup>, John Ralph<sup>2</sup>, and Marie Baucher<sup>1,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Plant Systems Biology, Flanders Interuniversity Institute for Biotechnology, Ghent University, K.L. Ledeganckstraat 35, B-9000 Gent, Belgium; email: wout.boerjan@gengenp.rug.ac.be <sup>2</sup>U.S. Dairy Forage Research Center, USDA-Agricultural Research Service, Madison, Wisconsin, 53706; email: jralph@facstaff.wisc.edu

<sup>3</sup>Laboratoire de Biotechnologie Végétale, Université Libre de Bruxelles, 1850 Chaussée de Wavre, B-1160 Brussels, Belgium; email: mbaucher@ulb.ac.be

**Key Words** dehydrogenation, nucleation, polymerization, structure, topochemistry, transgenic plants

■ Abstract The lignin biosynthetic pathway has been studied for more than a century but has undergone major revisions over the past decade. Significant progress has been made in cloning new genes by genetic and combined bioinformatics and biochemistry approaches. In vitro enzymatic assays and detailed analyses of mutants and transgenic plants altered in the expression of lignin biosynthesis genes have provided a solid basis for redrawing the monolignol biosynthetic pathway, and structural analyses have shown that plant cell walls can tolerate large variations in lignin content and structure. In some cases, the potential value for agriculture of transgenic plants with modified lignin structure has been demonstrated. This review presents a current picture of monolignol biosynthesis, polymerization, and lignin structure.

#### CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION
LIGNIN COMPOSITION AND STRUCTURE
General Aspects
A Broader Definition of Lignins
VARIABILITY AND TOPOCHEMISTRY
MONOLIGNOL BIOSYNTHESIS
TRANSGENIC PLANTS
TRANSPORT OF MONOLIGNOLS
DEHYDROGENATION
POLYMERIZATION
Radical Generation and Radical Coupling
Polymerization Process
Nucleation Sites
BIOTECHNOLOGY
CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

### INTRODUCTION

Lignin is, after cellulose, the second most abundant terrestrial biopolymer, accounting for approximately 30% of the organic carbon in the biosphere. The ability to synthesize lignin has been essential in the evolutionary adaptation of plants from an aquatic environment to land. Lignin is crucial for structural integrity of the cell wall and stiffness and strength of the stem (23, 71). In addition, lignin waterproofs the cell wall, enabling transport of water and solutes through the vascular system, and plays a role in protecting plants against pathogens (126).

Although researchers have studied lignin for more than a century, many aspects of its biosynthesis remain unresolved. The monolignol biosynthetic pathway has been redrawn many times and remains a matter of debate (36, 67). Likewise, the biochemical processes leading to dehydrogenation of the monolignols in the cell wall and their polymerization and deposition are fields of active discussion (31, 60, 81, 122, 128). In addition, we are only beginning to understand the transcriptional and posttranslational mechanisms and metabolic complexes regulating the flux through the phenylpropanoid and monolignol biosynthetic pathways.

# LIGNIN COMPOSITION AND STRUCTURE

#### General Aspects

Lignins are complex racemic aromatic heteropolymers derived mainly from three hydroxycinnamyl alcohol monomers differing in their degree of methoxylation, *p*-coumaryl **M1H**, coniferyl **M1G**, and sinapyl **M1S** alcohols (50) (Figure 1) (a Supplemental Three-Dimensional View is available online: Follow the Supplemental Material link from the Annual Reviews home page at http://www.annualreviews. org). These monolignols produce, respectively, p-hydroxyphenyl H, guaiacyl G, and syringyl S phenylpropanoid units when incorporated into the lignin polymer. The amount and composition of lignins vary among taxa, cell types, and individual cell wall layers and are influenced by developmental and environmental cues (18). Although exceptions exist, dicotyledonous angiosperm (hardwood) lignins consist principally of **G** and **S** units and traces of **H** units, whereas gymnosperm (softwood) ligning are composed mostly of **G** units with low levels of **H** units. Lignins from grasses (monocots) incorporate G and S units at comparable levels, and more **H** units than dicots (11). **H** units, derived from the incorporation of the monolignol *p*-coumaryl alcohol **M1H** into lignins, should not be confused with *p*-coumarate esters **Y3**, which appear as pendant groups acylating grass lignins this confusion (and the derivation of identical products using degradative methods such as nitrobenzene oxidation) has led to overestimation of **H** levels in the past.

Lignification is the process by which units are linked together via radical coupling reactions (50, 126). The main "end-wise" reaction couples a new monomer (usually a monolignol and usually at its  $\beta$  position) to the growing polymer, giving rise to structures **A**, **B**, and **D2** (all of which are  $\beta$ -linked). Coupling between preformed lignin oligomers results in units linked 5–5 **D** and 5–O–4 **E**. The coupling of two monolignols is a minor event, with resinol ( $\beta$ – $\beta$ ) units **C** or cinnamyl alcohol end groups **X1** as the outcome. Monolignol dimerization and lignin are substantially different processes (2), explaining why lignification produces frequencies of the various units that are different from those produced by dimerization (Figure 2) or bulk polymerization in vitro (see below).

The interconnections are described in Figure 1. The most frequent inter-unit linkage is the  $\beta$ -O-4 ( $\beta$ -aryl ether) linkage **A**. It is also the one most easily cleaved chemically, providing a basis for industrial processes, such as chemical pulping, and several analytical methods. The other linkages are  $\beta$ -5 **B**,  $\beta$ - $\beta$  **C**, 5-5 **D**, 5-O-4 **E**, and  $\beta$ -1 **F**, which are all more resistant to chemical degradation. The relative abundance of the different linkages depends largely on the relative contribution of a particular monomer to the polymerization process. For example, lignins composed mainly of **G** units, such as conifer lignins, contain more resistant



**Figure 2** Lignification differs substantially from simple dimerization of monolignols. (*a*) Dimerization of coniferyl alcohol produces only three dimers, in each of which at least one of the coniferyl alcohols is coupled at its  $\beta$  position. The 5–5 and 5–O–4 dimers shown in most texts (and crossed out) do not actually arise in any significant way from monomer dimerization reactions. The new bond formed by the radical coupling reaction is noted in bold. (*b*) Cross-coupling of coniferyl alcohol with a **G** unit gives only two main products, explaining why there are more  $\beta$ -ethers formed during lignification than in monolignol dimerization (or in synthetic dehydrogenation polymer (DHP) synthesis, where dimerization is too frequent). Coupling of preformed oligomers is the source of most of the 5–5- and 5–O–4 units. Sites of further coupling reactions during lignification are indicated by dotted arrows. Not shown: Sinapyl alcohol analogously dimerizes to only two products (not the  $\beta$ –5 analog), and polymerization between a monolignol (either coniferyl or sinapyl alcohol) and an **S** unit in the polymer has only one outcome—the  $\beta$ –O–4 unit, explaining why high **S** lignins have elevated  $\beta$ -ether levels. Neither 5–5 nor 5–O–4 units can be formed between **S** units; cross-coupling of **G** and **S** units can furnish 5–O–4-linked structures.

 $(\beta$ -5 **B**, 5-5 **D**, and 5-O-4 **E**) linkages than lignins incorporating **S** units because of the availability of the C<sub>5</sub> position for coupling.

### A Broader Definition of Lignins

It is becoming increasingly clear that lignins are derived from several more monomers than just the three monolignols **M1** (bold in Figure 1). Many "normal" plants contain lignins substantially derived from other monomers, and all lignins contain traces of units from apparently incomplete monolignol biosynthesis and other (side-)reactions that occur during that biosynthesis (113). Many of these units have been recently identified by their more substantial incorporation into lignins in transgenic and mutant plants with perturbations in the monolignol biosynthetic pathway.

Variously acylated lignin units **Y** were suspected to derive from acylated monolignols **M9–M11** (95). *p*-coumarates **Y3** on grass lignins are regio-specifically attached to the  $\gamma$  position of lignin side–chains, and on all types of lignin units, suggesting that they are not products of postlignification derivatization (85). Recent identification of novel  $\beta$ – $\beta$ -coupling products from kenaf lignins that could have only arisen from sinapyl acetate **M9S** (i.e., preacetylated sinapyl alcohol) provides more compelling evidence (86) and suggests that all of the acylated lignins (*p*-hydroxybenzoates **Y2** in poplars, palms, and willows; *p*-coumarates **Y3** in all grasses; and acetates **Y1** in palms and kenaf, as well as the low levels in many hardwoods) derive from acylated monolignols **M9–M11**. Because acetylated components can represent a significant part of the polymer (over 50% of kenaf bast fiber lignin units are acetylated, for example), they should be considered to be authentic lignin "monomers."

Ferulates **M4G**, and their dehydrodimers that derive from radical coupling reactions and generate polysaccharide-polysaccharide cross-linking, are also intimately incorporated into lignins, particularly in grasses where they appear to function as nucleation sites for lignin polymerization (69, 109). Tyramine ferulate **M8G** (and possibly other hydroxycinnamate analogs) is intimately polymerized into the polymer in normal tobacco and is particularly enhanced in cinnamoyl coenzymeA (CoA) reductase (CCR)-deficient transgenic tobacco (110).

Dihydroconiferyl alcohol (DHCA) **X5G** and derived guaiacylpropane-1,3-diol units **X6G** are always detectable in gymnosperm lignins, suggesting that the monomer **M5G** is always produced with coniferyl alcohol **M1G** (111). DHCAderived units **X5G** and **X6G** are major components of the lignin in a cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase (CAD)-deficient pine mutant where about half are involved in 5–5-coupled structures **D** (114). Similarly, cinnamyl **X2** and benzyl **X3** aldehyde groups are always detected in lignins. Whether they arise from postlignification oxidation reactions or from incorporation of the aldehyde monomers into the polymer is unclear, but the latter is highly implicated by the recent observations of increased levels in CAD-deficient plants, which also display products of endwise hydroxycinnamyl aldehyde incorporation into the growing polymer—the hydroxycinnamyl aldehyde 8–O–4-linked units **K**, particularly predominant in CAD-deficient angiosperms (76a, 113). Incorporation profiles of hydroxycinnamyl aldehydes **M2** provide further evidence that lignification reactions are under simple chemical control. In tobacco, sinapyl aldehyde **M2s** is found 8–O–4-coupled (in structures **K**) to both **G** and **S** units, whereas coniferyl aldehyde **M2g** is only found cross-coupled to **S** units. Coniferyl aldehyde has not been successfully coupled to guaiacyl models in vitro, although the 8–O–4-coupled dehydrodimer can be obtained. An important corollary is that hydroxycinnamyl aldehydes are incorporated intimately into angiosperm **GS** lignins but only poorly into gymnosperm **G** lignin.

The most striking example of lignins incorporating substantial quantities of a monomer derived from truncated monolignol biosynthesis is in caffeic acid-*O*-methyltransferase (COMT)-deficient angiosperms (113). Plants severely depleted in COMT produce little sinapyl alcohol **M1s** but essentially substitute it with a monomer derived from its unmethylated precursor, 5-hydroxyconiferyl alcohol **M15H**. The incorporation is typically end–wise, but the *o*-diphenol results in novel cyclic structures, benzodioxanes **J**, in the lignin (112). As with other products, such units can be found at very low levels in normal plants.

#### VARIABILITY AND TOPOCHEMISTRY

Lignin deposition is one of the final stages of xylem cell differentiation and mainly takes place during secondary thickening of the cell wall (37). Generally, secondary cell walls consist of three layers: the outer (S1), middle (S2), and inner (S3). Lignin deposition proceeds in different phases, each preceded by the deposition of carbohydrates, and starts at the cell corners in the region of the middle lamella and the primary wall when S1 formation has initiated. When the formation of the polysaccharide matrix of the S2 layer is completed, lignification proceeds through the secondary wall. The bulk of lignin is deposited after cellulose and hemicellulose have been deposited in the S3 layer. Generally, lignin concentration is higher in the middle lamella and cell corners than in the S2 secondary wall (11, 37, 124). However, because it occupies a larger portion of the wall, the secondary wall has the highest lignin content. Secondary walls of vessels generally have a higher lignin content than those of fibers. Environmental conditions also influence lignin amount and composition; secondary cell walls of angiosperm tension wood are characterized by the presence of an unlignified gelatinous layer, which is composed of highly crystalline cellulose, whereas lignin distribution is normal in the rest of the secondary cell wall. By contrast, the S2 layer of gymnosperm compression wood is characterized by a highly lignified ring (the S2L layer) (37).

Microautoradiography and UV-microspectrometry have shown that the three monolignols are incorporated at different stages of cell wall formation. Typically, **H** units are deposited first, followed by **G** units, and **S** units still later in angiosperms (37, 139). Lignin in vessels is generally enriched in **G** units, whereas lignin in fibers is typically enriched in **S** units (124). A large proportion of **S** units is also found in secondary walls of ray parenchyma (44). In gymnosperms, the lignin deposited in compression wood is enriched in **H** units (141). In

gramineous monocotyledons, lignin incorporates significant amounts of hydroxycinnamate esters. Ferulate-polysaccharide esters **M4G** (and minor amounts of the *p*-coumarate analogs **M4H**) are rapidly deposited at the early stages of lignification. *p*-Coumarates **Y3**, acylating lignin side–chains mainly on **S** units (85), are deposited throughout lignification (61), implicating the involvement of acylated monomers **M11**. The difference in timing of monolignol deposition is associated with variations in lignin condensation in the individual cell wall layers, as shown by immunocytochemistry with antibodies raised against pure **H**, pure **G**, or mixed **GS** synthetic lignins (23, 72).

The chemical nature of the carbohydrate matrix and the orientation of the cellulose microfibrils influence lignin deposition. In the middle lamella and the primary wall, lignin forms spherical structures, whereas in the secondary wall, lignin forms lamellae that follow the orientation of the microfibrils (5, 37, 123). During deposition, lignin may form chemical bonds with the hemicellulose component in the wall and gradually eliminates water, forming a hydrophobic environment.

From these data, one can conclude that lignin deposition, and the relative incorporation of the different monolignols into the polymer, are spatially and temporally regulated. The mechanisms controlling this process are not yet fully resolved but are likely governed by the interplay between the spatio-temporal expression of monolignol biosynthetic genes, the kinetics of monolignol delivery to the cell wall, and the chemistry of monolignol coupling to the growing polymer in the complex macromolecular environment of the cell wall.

# MONOLIGNOL BIOSYNTHESIS

The biosynthesis of the monolignols starts with the deamination of phenylalanine and involves successive hydroxylation reactions of the aromatic ring, followed by phenolic *O*-methylation and conversion of the side-chain carboxyl to an alcohol group. Monolignol biosynthesis can be most easily understood starting with the metabolic grid presented in Figure 3, which includes all possible enzymatic conversions that have been shown by in vitro experiments. Researchers have long thought that the hydroxylation and methylation reactions occur at the level of the cinnamic acids and that *p*-coumaric, ferulic, and sinapic acid are subsequently converted to the corresponding monolignols by the sequential action of 4-coumarate:CoA ligase (4CL), CCR, and CAD. However, a number of in vitro enzymatic assays with heterologously produced enzymes, the identification of novel genes implicated in the pathway, and analyses of mutant and transgenic plants modified in monolignol biosynthesis have cast doubt on this route, and the pathway had to be redrawn (67). For clarity, we present only the key arguments that have led to the currently most favored pathway.

The first revision of the pathway arose from the observation that expression of caffeoyl-CoA *O*-methyltransferase (CCoAOMT) coincided with lignin deposition in differentiating tracheary elements in zinnia (148). CCoAOMT methylates

caffeoyl-CoA and 5-hydroxyferuloyl-CoA to produce feruloyl-CoA and sinapoyl-CoA in vitro. Further research suggested the existence of a route from pcoumaroyl-CoA to caffeoyl-CoA (150). Subsequently, feeding experiments with radiolabeled monolignol glucosides showed that hydroxylation and methylation of the aromatic  $C_3$  and  $C_5$  positions could also occur at the aldehyde or alcohol level (28, 89, 90), indicating the existence of enzymes able to catalyze these conversions. Re-evaluating the substrate preference of ferulate 5-hydroxylase (F5H) showed that the preferential substrate was not ferulic acid, but coniferaldehyde and coniferyl alcohol (68, 98). Similarly, the products of F5H-catalyzed hydroxylation, 5-hydroxyconiferaldehyde, and 5-hydroxyconiferyl alcohol proved to be good substrates for COMT, whereas caffeic acid was a poor substrate (68, 83, 98, 100). Together, these data presented evidence that the aromatic  $C_5$  position is hydroxylated and methylated preferentially at the cinnamaldehyde or cinnamyl alcohol level and that the predominant role for CCR is the reduction of feruloyl-CoA to coniferaldehyde. In a variety of species, caffeyl aldehyde and caffeyl alcohol are also efficiently O-methylated, in agreement with the radiotracer studies (27a, 54, 55, 89, 100, 151). Caffeyl aldehyde is probably synthesized from caffeoyl-CoA by CCR (54). Hence, coniferaldehyde may be synthesized from feruloyl-CoA or from caffeyl aldehyde, depending on differences in substrate specificities between enzyme isoforms and depending on the species (151).

CAD is a multifunctional enzyme that catalyzes the final reduction of the cinnamaldehydes to the corresponding alcohols, at least in vitro. However, a CAD homolog from aspen, sinapyl alcohol dehydrogenase (SAD), that preferentially reduces sinapaldehyde to sinapyl alcohol was identified. This homolog is coexpressed with F5H and COMT and co-localizes with **S** lignin in aspen (82). Aspen CAD preferentially reduces coniferaldehyde; therefore, SAD may be the enzyme responsible for the final step in the biosynthesis of sinapyl alcohol (82).

The enzyme that was long thought to convert *p*-coumaric acid into caffeic acid has only recently been cloned from Arabidopsis and shown to be a cytochrome P450-dependent monooxygenase (47, 127). It is interesting to note that enzymatic assays have demonstrated that the shikimate and quinate esters of p-coumaric acid are the preferred substrates for *p*-coumarate 3-hydroxylase (C3H) and that neither p-coumaric acid, p-coumaroyl-CoA, p-coumaraldehyde, p-coumaryl alcohol, nor the 1-O-glucose ester and the 4-O-glucoside of p-coumaric acid are good substrates (47, 95a, 127). By incorporating C3H into the scheme for monolignol biosynthesis, at least in Arabidopsis, p-coumarate is first converted to pcoumaroyl-CoA by 4CL, with subsequent conversion to p-coumaroyl-shikimate and p-coumaroyl-quinate, the substrates for C3H, by p-hydroxycinnamoyl-CoA:Dquinate- (CQT) or p-hydroxycinnamoyl-CoA:shikimate p-hydroxycinnamoyltransferase (CST) (127). These enzymes, described as reversible enzymes, can convert caffeoyl-shikimate or caffeoyl-quinate (chlorogenic acid) into caffeoyl-CoA, the substrate for CCoAOMT (127, 144). Recently, a reversible acyltransferase with both CQT and CST activity, designated HCT, has been purified and the corresponding gene cloned from tobacco (62b). Taken together, these data argue that none of



the  $C_3$  and  $C_5$  substitutions of the aromatic ring take place at the cinnamic acid level in monolignol biosynthesis.

For most of the enzymes described above, multiple isoforms that are differentially expressed during development and upon environmental cues (27, 66, 79, 84a) exist that may have different kinetics and substrate preferences (39, 59, 151). Certain paths in the grid are therefore expected to be kinetically favored in given cell types or environmental conditions, allowing for metabolic flexibility (Figure 3). In this respect, a continuing controversy concerns the role of sinapic acid in monolignol biosynthesis. Whereas 4CL isoforms of most plant species analyzed use p-coumarate, caffeate, and ferulate as substrates, but not sinapate, isoforms of some plants are able to convert sinapate into sinapoyl-CoA (84a), leaving the possibility that in particular plants monolignols may be synthesized via the acid pathway (147a).

Another level of complexity is that pathway intermediates may affect the synthesis or activity of certain enzymes in the pathway. Cinnamic acid inhibits phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (*PAL*) expression at the transcriptional (13, 91) and posttranslational level (16) and induces the activity of CQT (77). Accordingly, downregulation of cinnamate 4-hydroxylase (C4H) in transgenic tobacco reduces PAL activity by feedback modulation (13). Phenylalanine concentrations also have a profound effect on flux through the pathway. Feeding lignifying *Pinus taeda* cell suspension cultures with phenylalanine increases *p*-coumaryl and coniferyl alcohol synthesis and *PAL*, *4CL*, *CCoAOMT*, and *CCR* transcript levels, but only slightly upregulates those of *C4H* and *C3H* (4).

In vitro enzymatic experiments have shown that 5-hydroxyconiferaldehyde is a competitive inhibitor of caffeic and 5-hydroxyferulic acid methylation and that coniferaldehyde is a noncompetitive inhibitor of ferulate 5-hydroxylation, corroborating the conclusion that  $C_3$  and  $C_5$  substitutions in monolignol biosynthesis do not take place at the cinnamic acid level (83, 98). In aspen, coniferaldehyde

**Figure 3** Phenylpropanoid and monolignol biosynthetic pathways. Based on lignin compositional analyses, enzymatic assays, and transgenic plants, the black route toward the production of monolignols is expected to be most favored in angiosperms. The gray routes also occur, depending on the species and conditions. The route from caffeic acid to sinapic acid and down to 5-hydroxyferuloyl-CoA and sinapoyl-CoA (*white part*) does not play a significant role in monolignol biosynthesis. CAD, cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase; 4CL, 4-coumarate:CoA ligase; C3H, *p*-coumarate 3-hydroxylase; C4H, cinnamate 4-hydroxylase; CCoAOMT, caffeoyl-CoA *O*-methyltransferase; CCR, cinnamoyl-CoA reductase; COMT, caffeic acid *O*-methyltransferase; F5H, ferulate 5-hydroxylase; PAL, phenylalanine ammonia-lyase; SAD, sinapyl alcohol dehydrogenase. ?, conversion demonstrated; ??, direct conversion not convincingly demonstrated; 4CL??, some species have 4CL activity toward sinapic acid; CCR? and F5H?, substrate not tested; others, enzymatic activity shown in vitro.

is additionally a competitive inhibitor of the sinapaldehyde reduction by CAD, whereas sinapaldehyde strongly inhibits the coniferaldehyde reduction by SAD, indicating that SAD is predominantly involved in sinapyl and CAD in coniferyl alcohol biosynthesis (82). Caffeic acid competitively inhibits the 4CL activation of *p*-coumaric acid (59), and feedback regulation by hydroxycinnamic acid levels has also been suggested for CCoAOMT (70).

Furthermore, transgenic plants have shown that COMT downregulation in tobacco induces a strong increase in CCR activity and has a negative effect on the production of CCoAOMT (104), indicating additional regulatory mechanisms controlling the flux through the pathway.

#### TRANSGENIC PLANTS

In vitro assays of individual pathway enzymes and radiolabeling experiments have been instructive in dissecting the monolignol biosynthetic pathway, but they are insufficient to comprehend this pathway's complexity in vivo. Transgenic plants provide a picture of the gross alterations on lignin amount, composition, and primary structure and on the phenotypic effects caused by altering the expression of a single gene. Hence, one can obtain novel insight into regulatory aspects of the pathway and on the structure and biological roles of lignin.

Transgenic plants or mutants with modified expression of all monolignol biosynthesis genes described above, except HCT, have been studied in detail (36) (for an extensive table, see Supplemental Table: Follow the Supplemental Material link from the Annual Reviews home page at http://www.annualreviews.org/). Below, we focus on the main results that have contributed to our understanding of lignin biosynthesis and structure.

Downregulation of PAL and C4H in tobacco largely reduces lignin content, consistent with their key positions at the entry point to phenylpropanoid biosynthesis (8, 43, 130). Surprisingly, lignin composition is oppositely affected in these transgenic tobacco lines. PAL downregulation reduces mainly **G** units, whereas C4H downregulation reduces mainly **S** units in lignin, an observation that cannot easily be explained by the pathway presented in Figure 3. Three possible explanations have been proposed for this apparent contradiction (36): (*a*) The pathway to **G** lignin may bypass C4H, (*b*) C4H still catalyzes reactions other than the 4-hydroxylation of cinnamic acid, or (*c*) C4H may be part of a metabolic channel committed to **S** lignin biosynthesis. C3H, C4H, and F5H are all membrane-bound P450 enzymes, with an endoplasmic reticulum anchor domain and, as such, poised well to assemble multienzyme complexes at the outer face of the endoplasmic reticulum membrane (25, 119, 127). Until now, however, metabolic channeling has only been demonstrated from phenylalanine to *p*-coumarate, involving a microsomal PAL isoform (118).

Overexpression of PAL in tobacco leads to increased levels of chlorogenic acid in leaves (8, 64), whereas downregulation of PAL and C4H decreases chlorogenic acid content (8, 13), providing a link between the role of C3H in 3-hydroxylation at the level of shikimate or quinate esters and lignin (46, 47, 127). Downregulation of 4CL leads to a reduction in lignin content in tobacco, *Arabidopsis*, and aspen (65, 74, 80) and to a higher amount of cell wall–bound hydroxycinnamic acids (*p*-coumaric, ferulic, and sinapic acid) in tobacco and poplar (65, 74). The effects on **S/G** lignin composition are contradictory. In tobacco, a reduction in **S** units is reported (74, 75); in *Arabidopsis*, only **G** units are reduced (80); and in transgenic aspen, the **S/G** ratio is similar to that of the control (65). This differential effect on lignin composition may be explained by the existence of multiple isoforms of 4CL with distinct substrate specificities and various functions that are differentially affected in the transgenic plants (3, 39, 59, 65, 80).

The Arabidopsis reduced epidermal fluorescence (ref8) mutant, defective in C3H, has a strongly reduced lignin content and accumulates a range of soluble *p*-coumarate esters instead of sinapoyl malate. The lignin of this mutant is almost entirely composed of **H** units and contains large amounts of esterified *p*-coumaric acid. These data indicate that C3H is a major control point in the production of C<sub>3</sub>- and C<sub>5</sub>-substituted phenylpropanoids and that it is likely the sole 3-hydroxylase in the phenylpropanoid pathway (46).

Downregulation of CCoAOMT results in less lignin, and in an increased **S**/**G** ratio mainly because of a reduction in **G** units (55, 93, 105, 149). In alfalfa, downregulation of CCoAOMT reduces **G** lignin but does not affect **S** lignin biosynthesis, suggesting that, in alfalfa, CCoAOMT is not essential in **S** unit biosynthesis in vivo and COMT is involved in the 3-methylation step, in agreement with the substrate specificity of alfalfa COMT allowing the methylation of caffeyl aldehyde and caffeyl alcohol (27a, 55, 100). Metabolic profiling of stem tissues revealed the accumulation of soluble  $O-\beta$ -D-glucosides of vanillic, caffeic, and sinapic acids in transgenic poplar (93), and caffeoyl- $\beta$ -D-glucoside in alfalfa (55); all are compounds that probably derive from caffeic acid upon de-esterification of caffeoyl-CoA by a thioesterase. In poplar, elevated levels of free and wall-bound *p*-hydroxybenzoic acid **Y2** were found (93, 149), and lignin is less condensed and less cross-linked (149).

Downregulation of COMT to low activity levels reduces lignin content in alfalfa, maize, and poplar by 30%, 30%, and 17%, respectively. Consistent with the predominant role for COMT in methylating the C<sub>5</sub> hydroxyl group, the most striking effect of COMT deficiency is the reduction in **S** units and the incorporation of 5-hydroxyconiferyl alcohol **M15H** into the lignin polymer (6, 24, 55, 73, 112, 113, 145, 150). Accordingly, the lignin of transgenic poplar and alfalfa downregulated for COMT is characterized by a reduced frequency of bonds involving **S** units (55, 73, 78). COMT-downregulated poplars have more 5–5 **D** and less  $\beta$ – $\beta$ **C** structures in lignin (78), and they have high amounts of novel benzodioxane structures **J** derived from incorporation of the 5-hydroxyconiferyl alcohol **M15H** (112) (see Supplemental Three-Dimensional View of the altered lignin structure in a COMT-deficient poplar).

In tobacco, downregulation of CCR has a marked effect on both lignin content and lignin composition (106, 110). The S/G ratio is increased mainly because of a reduction in G units, but lignin is more condensed. A higher amount of tyramine ferulate **M8**G is incorporated as an integral component of the polymer. In addition, increased amounts of cell wall–bound phenolics, such as ferulic acid, sinapic acid, acetosyringone, and tyramine ferulate **M8G**, were released by mild alkaline hydrolysis of the cell wall. Tyramine ferulate **M8G** is likely the sink for the anticipated buildup of feruloyl-CoA. The higher levels of hydroxycinnamates may have contributed to the abnormally high degree of cross-linking.

Lignin of the *Arabidopsis* mutant defective in F5H (*fah-1*) is characterized by the absence of **S** units and enhanced phenylcoumaran **B** and dibenzodioxocin structures **D2** (26, 88), whereas upregulation of F5H in *Arabidopsis*, tobacco, and poplar results in lignin almost entirely constituted of **S** units, therefore containing no phenylcoumaran **B** or dibenzodioxocin **D2** structures (48, 88, 92). It is interesting to note that benzodioxane **J** structures, which are found in plants with suppressed *COMT* expression, are also present in the lignin of *F5H*-overexpressing *Arabidopsis* plants, probably because of the increased flux to 5-hydroxyconiferaldehyde and 5-hydroxyconiferyl alcohol **M15H** without an associated increase in COMT activity (113). These data show that F5H plays a major role in 5-hydroxylation and that it is possible to modulate the **S/G** ratio in plants from one extreme to the other.

Although CAD catalyzes the last step in monolignol biosynthesis, lignin content is only slightly affected in most CAD-deficient plants (9, 10, 58, 62, 78, 87, 103, 134). This can, at least in part, be explained by the incorporation of other phenolics that compensate for the reduced availability of monolignols for polymerization. Indeed, downregulation of CAD in tobacco and poplar results in coniferaldehyde and sinapaldehyde incorporation into the lignin polymer (76a, 113). In pine, a CAD mutation has been associated with an increased amount of coniferaldehyde **X2G** and unanticipated dihydroconiferyl alcohol **X5G** units (114, 128). The CADdeficient *bm1* mutant of maize has a 20% reduced lignin content (57) and stains more strongly for aldehydes; however, no aldehyde resonances were seen in nuclear magnetic resonance spectra (107).

The expression of two or three genes of the monolignol biosynthetic pathway has been altered either by crossing single transformants downregulated for particular genes [*COMT* and *CCR* (104), *COMT* and *CCoAOMT* (105), *CAD* and *CCR* (22, 23)], by double transformation [*COMT* and *CCoAOMT* (55, 150)], or by introduction of a chimeric construct consisting of fragments of three genes [*COMT*, *CCR*, and *CAD* (1)] (for additional information, see Supplemental Table).

A striking characteristic of transgenic plants downregulated for 4CL, CCoAOMT, CCR, CAD, and COMT is the reddish or brownish discoloration of the xylem tissues, initially observed in the maize "*brown-midrib*" (*bm*) mutants (see Supplemental Table) (Figure 4). The reddish coloration of CAD- and COMT-deficient plants has been attributed to the incorporation of cinnamaldehydes in the polymer; synthetic DHPs of coniferyl alcohol and coniferaldehyde also form a red polymer (62a). However, in plants downregulated for 4CL, CCoAOMT, and CCR, the incorporation of other phenolics into the lignin polymer is likely the cause of the xylem discoloration.

Taken together, the results obtained by analyzing transgenic plants modified in monolignol biosynthesis have demonstrated that plants can tolerate large variations

in lignin content and composition, that monomers other than *p*-coumaryl, coniferyl, and sinapyl alcohol are incorporated into the lignin polymer, and that the copolymerization of these uncommon monomers may result in novel lignin structures. These data show that the lignin polymer is extremely flexible in its composition.

Besides having contributed to our understanding of lignin biosynthesis and structure, the same transgenic lines have also demonstrated that lignin is important for the structural integrity of the cell wall. Plants downregulated in C3H, CCoAOMT, and CCR all had reductions in lignin content associated with a collapse of the vessels and altered growth, phenotypes that may significantly vary according to developmental and environmental conditions (104, 105). Such collapsed vessels have been studied in detail in CCR-downregulated tobacco and Arabidopsis irx4 mutants and have an expanded S2 secondary wall with individualized cellulose microfibrils (23, 71, 104), indicating an important role for lignin as cohesive between cellulose microfibrils. However, in some cases, reduced lignin content is not associated with growth abnormalities (80) and, in the case of 4CL downregulation in aspen, even with increased growth, showing that lignin content per se is not essential for structural integrity of the cell wall and that the reduced lignin content can be compensated by other cell wall constituents (65). The increase in cellulose coupled to a decrease in lignin observed in 4CL-downregulated poplars does not seem to be a general phenomenon; *irx4* mutants defective in CCR have less lignin but no increase in cellulose (71).

#### TRANSPORT OF MONOLIGNOLS

After their synthesis, the lignin precursors are transported to the cell wall where they are oxidized and polymerized. In gymnosperms and some angiosperms, monolignol 4–O– $\beta$ -D-glucosides accumulate to high levels in the cambial tissues (132). It has been hypothesized that these monolignol glucosides are storage or transport forms of the monolignols and that a uridine diphosphate glucose (UDPG) coniferyl alcohol glucosyl transferase (132), together with coniferin- $\beta$ -glucosidase (CG), may regulate storage and mobilization of monolignols for lignan and/or lignin biosynthesis (34, 125). Whether these glucosides are transported via Golgi-derived vesicles or through direct plasma membrane pumping by ABC transporters is still unknown (125).

By taking advantage of the completed sequence of the *Arabidopsis* genome and by combining bioinformatics with a biochemical approach, two UDPG-glysosyl transferases (UGTs) that were able to 4–*O*-glucosylate sinapyl alcohol into syringin were identified, one of which could also glucosylate coniferyl alcohol to coniferin in vitro (84). Identifying these *UGT* genes enables one to study the role of monolignol glucosides in vivo by reverse-genetics.

If monolignol glucosides were indeed the monolignol transport (or storage) forms, the aglycon would have to be liberated by a CG prior to dehydrogenation. Based on peptide sequence information obtained from a purified lodgepole pine CG, the corresponding cDNA has been cloned and shown to encode a secretory

family-1 glycosyl hydrolase (34, 35). CG has been immunolocalized to xylem secondary walls (125). However, no genetic evidence for its role in lignification has been obtained yet.

According to early studies with radiolabeled monolignol precursors, lignification of the cell wall has been hypothesized to proceed after cell death (102). These findings are now supported by experiments with the zinnia cell system showing that lignification of tracheary elements that have undergone programmed cell death still progresses by supply of monolignols from the surrounding xylem parenchyma cells (63).

#### DEHYDROGENATION

After transport of the monolignols to the cell wall, lignin is formed through dehydrogenative polymerization of the monolignols (29). The dehydrogenation to monolignol radicals has been attributed to different classes of proteins, such as peroxidases, laccases, polyphenol oxidases, and coniferyl alcohol oxidase. Which of these enzymes or a combination thereof are responsible for the dehydrogenation of the monolignols in planta and whether monolignol oxidation occurs through redox shuttle-mediated oxidation are still unclear (97).

Peroxidases use hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ) to oxidize their substrates (29). How  $H_2O_2$  is generated in the cell wall is still a matter of debate. Evidence is emerging for a role for an NADPH oxidase in lignifying tissues, which would supply  $H_2O_2$  for monolignol oxidation (96, 121). However, a copper amine oxidase (CuAO) that generates  $H_2O_2$  by oxidizing putrescine has also been co-localized with lignin staining and peroxidase activity in tracheary elements of *Arabidopsis* (94). Oxalate oxidase is another enzyme possibly involved in  $H_2O_2$  generation (17), and peroxidase itself is able to generate  $H_2O_2$  from a variety of reducing substrates, such as cysteine, glutathione, NADPH, ascorbate, and indole-3-acetic acid (15, 29, 45).

The high number of peroxidase genes [73 in the *Arabidopsis* genome (142)] is one reason why isozymes that are responsible for monolignol oxidation in vivo cannot be identified easily. In addition, most peroxidases isolated from a variety of species catalyze very similar reactions, such as the oxidation of the monolignol coniferyl alcohol. Thus, oxidation of coniferyl alcohol is no proof for peroxidase involvement in lignin polymerization. Although several anionic and cationic peroxidases are expressed in lignifying cells, and some can generate lignin ectopically in planta upon overexpression (30, 40–42, 99, 108, 120), peroxidase involvement in the developmentally regulated deposition of lignin still needs to be unambiguously demonstrated.

Laccases (*p*-diphenol:O<sub>2</sub> oxidoreductases) are copper-containing, cell wall– localized glycoproteins that are encoded by multigene families in plants. In contrast to peroxidases, laccases consume O<sub>2</sub> instead of  $H_2O_2$  to oxidize the monolignols. Laccases of a variety of species are expressed in lignifying cells (7, 38, 117, 133). However, downregulation of laccase in aspen and yellow poplar did not affect lignin content or composition (33, 116).

# POLYMERIZATION

# **Radical Generation and Radical Coupling**

After their dehydrogenation, the radicals, which are relatively stable owing to electron delocalization that provides single-electron density to the side-chain  $\beta$ position, are coupled. The most important reaction is cross-coupling to the growing polymer to extend the complex three-dimensional lignin network (Figure 2). But, such coupling reactions are radical quenching. Each extension of the polymer requires new radicals on each of the two coupling partners. Radicals on the growing lignin polymer are thought to be generated by radical transfer from monolignols or other intermediaries. p-Coumarates function as efficient intermediaries in sinapyl alcohol-coupling reactions; they are rapidly oxidized by peroxidases, and then transfer the radical to sinapyl alcohol, which forms a more stable radical (59a, 136). As a result, sinapyl alcohol is far more rapidly oxidized in the presence of *p*-coumarates; the *p*-coumarates are not coupled until all of the sinapyl alcohol is depleted. This radical transfer step is assumably one of the functions of monolignol p-coumarate esters M11 in maize, where the peroxidases seem to be poor at oxidizing sinapyl alcohol directly. Similar radical transfer mechanisms can be envisioned between the monolignols and the growing polymer, i.e., the monolignols may act as the radical shuttles. When a monolignol radical encounters a polymer radical, it may cross-couple with it, but when the polymer is not electron-deficient, radical transfer may occur and the monolignol will diffuse back to the peroxidase/laccase to be reoxidized. Alternatively, redox shuttles, such as an  $Mn^{2+}/Mn^{3+}$  system (97), may be involved.

#### **Polymerization Process**

The actual process of polymer formation, lignification, occurs without the rigid biochemical controls seen in the biosynthesis of the precursor monolignols, giving rise to a unique class of polymers. Lignins are racemic (115), deriving from radical coupling reactions under chemical (but no apparent biochemical control) between phenolic radicals in an essentially combinatorial fashion.

Much of what is known of the radical–coupling process and the parameters that determine the frequency of interunit bonds and the structure of lignin has been obtained via synthetic dehydrogenation polymers (DHPs). Lignin-like polymers can be artificially synthesized in vitro by dehydropolymerization of lignin precursors, using peroxidase/H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> or laccase/O<sub>2</sub> as oxidizing agents (126). The Zutropf DHPs, formed by adding lignin precursors slowly and continuously to a solution containing  $H_2O_2$  and peroxidase, are called end-wise polymers and structurally resemble

isolated wood lignins more closely than Zulauf DHPs or bulk polymers, which are formed by adding the precursors in a single batch (49). Such DHP experiments have indicated that lignin structure depends on the supply rate of the monomers, the rate of radical generation (2, 135, 138), the presence of polysaccharides in the DHP mix (137, 138, 140), and the presence of the growing lignin polymer (53).

The accepted model for lignin polymerization, based on simple chemically controlled combinatorial coupling reactions, was recently challenged. According to Lewis' group (31), the macromolecular assembly of lignin is not based on "random coupling" of monolignols. Instead, this group proposes a strong biological control over the outcome of phenoxy radical coupling in vivo. The new theory arose from the discovery of a fascinating class of dirigent proteins implicated in lignan biosynthesis (32); lignans are dehydrodimers of monolignols and are typically optically active. The first such dirigent protein discovered guided the dimerization of coniferyl alcohol radicals to produce an optically active lignan, pinoresinol. The corresponding gene was cloned and shown to encode a cell wall-localized protein. The finding was extrapolated to lignification, suggesting that such proteins would logically be responsible for specifying the exact structure of the lignin polymer, bringing lignins in line with proteins and polysaccharides that are more carefully biosynthesized (31, 81). However, no strong arguments invoke a role for dirigents in lignification, and numerous facts do not fit the proposed model for absolute structural control over lignification (60, 113, 122, 128). Reverse genetics will tell whether dirigents play any role in lignin biosynthesis in addition to their involvement in lignan biosynthesis.

#### **Nucleation Sites**

As discussed above, lignin is first deposited in the middle lamella and the cell corners of the primary wall after the formation of the secondary wall has started, at the so-called nucleation sites, from which the lignin polymers can grow. The nature of these nucleation sites is unknown. Ferulates, conjugated to polysaccharides, and their dehydrodimers are well established as being incorporated into grass lignins. There is some evidence that ferulates and diferulates may act as attachment sites for monolignols (109). Structural cell wall proteins rich in aromatic residues, such as glycine-rich proteins (76), may have a similar function. It is interesting to note that several apoplastic peroxidases from zucchini and horseradish bind pectin in their Ca<sup>2+</sup>-induced conformation (101); one such peroxidase has been cloned (19, 20). Given that the middle lamella and the cell corners are rich in Ca<sup>2+</sup> pectate (21) and are the first sites to be lignified, Ca<sup>2+</sup> pectate-bound peroxidases may conceivably play a role in the spatial control of lignin deposition, and changes in Ca<sup>2+</sup> and H<sup>+</sup> concentrations may modulate the location of these peroxidases (19).

The negatively charged pectins are also good binding sites for polyamines (19) and, hence, may be suitable sites for  $H_2O_2$  generation by polyamine oxidases (94). It is tempting to speculate that pectin-binding peroxidases and polyamine oxidases may act locally in the early stages of lignin deposition both for  $H_2O_2$  generation and

oxidation of monolignols, cinnamic acids bound to polysaccharides or polyamines, or aromatic residues on certain proteins, such as glycine-rich proteins (76).

#### BIOTECHNOLOGY

Lignin biosynthesis is an active field of research partly because of its economic relevance. For the production of high-quality paper, lignin needs to be extracted from the pulp by expensive and environmentally hazardous processes requiring large amounts of energy and chemicals. For the paper industry, it would be beneficial to process wood with either less lignin or lignin with an altered chemical reactivity.

The first attempts to reduce lignin content involved downregulation of CAD and COMT. Surprisingly, large reductions in CAD activity only slightly reduced lignin content because the plants were able to circumvent the block in CAD activity by shipping its substrates, the cinnamaldehydes, to the cell wall for polymerization. An additonal surprise was that the altered lignin structure did not affect overall plant growth and development. These data show how adaptable plants are in building their cell wall (10, 58, 62, 76a, 78, 87, 134). Interestingly, chemical pulping experiments with wood harvested from 4-year-old, field-grown transgenic poplars downregulated for CAD have demonstrated that the modifications in lignin structure result in an altered chemical reactivity, which reduces the consumption of chemicals needed to remove lignin from the pulp. The pulp yield was simultaneously enhanced. These data also show that significant improvements in pulping efficiency can be achieved without strong reductions in lignin content (103). Similar results were obtained in chemical pulping experiments with wood from transgenic tobacco plants downregulated for CAD and CCR (95b).

Another unanticipated observation was that downregulation of COMT primarily affected the biosynthesis of **S** units, a first indication that the pathway that had been described in textbooks for many years was wrong (6, 145). In these plants, a novel unit **M15H** was copolymerized in the polymer and resulted in new types of chemical bonds **J**, again demonstrating the extraordinary flexibility of the lignin polymer. Pulping experiments of wood from field-grown COMT-downregulated poplars show that lignin of these plants is more difficult to extract from the pulp, presumably because of the reduced synthesis of **S** units and the presence of etherified units derived from 5-hydroxyconiferyl alcohol **M15H**, which are not cleavable in base (73, 78, 103). Although these plants are not very interesting for the chemical pulp industry, the results demonstrated that lignin composition plays an important role in lignin extractability and that it can be modified without affecting plant viability.

An additionally appealing objective is to engineer **S** lignin in gymnosperms. The rationale behind this objective is that a lignin polymer enriched in **S** units is less cross-linked than lignin rich in **G** units. As discussed above, results from enzymatic assays and transgenic plants have demonstrated that angiosperm F5H, COMT, and SAD are the enzymes responsible for **S** biosynthesis; upregulation of F5H results in lignin almost entirely composed of **S** units (48, 88, 92), whereas F5H deficiency

essentially abolishes **S** unit biosynthesis (26, 88). Likewise, downregulation of COMT limits **S** unit synthesis. No transgenic plants have been made yet for SAD, but enzymatic assays indicate it preferentially reduces sinapaldehyde, the last step in the biosynthesis of sinapyl alcohol (82). Through the combined expression of these three angiosperm genes (*F5H*, *COMT*, and *SAD*) in gymnosperms, it should be possible to divert coniferaldehyde and coniferyl alcohol toward the synthesis of **S** units and to improve lignin extractability.

Transgenic poplars downregulated for 4CL also hold great promise for the pulp industry; they have less lignin and more cellulose, and they grow taller for still unkown reasons. These three factors may significantly affect pulp yield (65).

Lignin also inhibits forage digestibility by ruminants (147). Downregulation of COMT, PAL, and CCoAOMT resulted in improved digestibility (56). Tobacco and alfalfa, downregulated for CAD, had higher in situ disappearance of cell walls (9, 12), and cell walls prepared from the *Arabidopsis ref8* mutant deficient in C3H and having lignin almost entirely composed of **H** units are more susceptible to polysaccharide hydrolases than wild type (46). Experiments have shown that **H**, **G**, and **S** lignins have similar effects on wall degradability when other cell wall factors are kept constant (52). Therefore, altering **S**/**G** composition per se probably does not modify digestibility, but lignin content (131), other compositional and structural factors (such as cross-linking), or overall changes in agronomic characteristics (such as leaf-to-stem ratio).

Lignin research may well be validated in breeding programs. Several quantitative trait loci for lignin composition in eucalyptus coincide with map positions of genes involved in lignin biosynthesis (51), and maize *bm* mutants with altered agronomic performance have defects in monolignol biosynthesis genes (57, 146), paving the way for the use of molecular markers in marker-assisted selection programs.

#### CONCLUSIONS AND PERSPECTIVES

The analysis of transgenic plants and mutants has significantly contributed to understanding the in vivo role of the enzymes of the lignin biosynthetic pathway and, in several cases, has demonstrated that in vitro enzymatic assays with a set of presumed substrates can be misleading. Nevertheless, several factors call for a careful interpretation of the results obtained with transgenic plants and mutants too. Altering the activity of a single enzyme of the pathway may modify the level of pathway intermediates, thus affecting the expression of other genes at the transcriptional or posttranslational level (4, 13, 14, 59, 82, 104). Additionally, the expression of unknown functional homologs of the gene under study may be affected. Hence, the pleiotropic phenotype displayed by several of the mutant lines under study is the result of both direct and indirect consequences of the mutation; the latter is the product of a number of unknown molecular events.

With the advent of microarray technology, the full spectrum of transcriptional events caused by altering the expression of a single gene will be revealed. Coupled

with metabolite profiling of the same tissues through high-perfomance liquid chromatography and gas chromatography combined with mass spectrometry (143), and reverse-genetics approaches, these data should deepen our understanding of the interrelationships between biosynthetic pathways and plant development.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

W.B. is indebted to the European Union Research Programs AGRE-0021-C, FAIR-CT95-0424, AIR2-CT93-1661, and QLK5-CT-2000-01493 for research grants. J.R. was supported in part by grant number DE-AI02-00ER15067 from the Division of Energy Biosciences, U.S. Department of Energy, and grant number 99-02351 from the U.S. Department of Agriculture National Research Initiatives Competitive Grants Program. M.B. is a Research Associate of the Belgian Fonds National de la Recherche Scientifique (FNRS).

#### The Annual Review of Plant Biology is online at http://plant.annualreviews.org

#### LITERATURE CITED

- Abbott JC, Barakate A, Pinçon G, Legrand M, Lapierre C, et al. 2002. Simultaneous suppression of multiple genes by single transgenes. Down-regulation of three unrelated lignin biosynthetic genes in tobacco. *Plant Physiol.* 128:844–53
- Adler E. 1977. Lignin chemistry—past present and future. Wood Sci. Technol. 11:169–218
- Allina SM, Pri-Hadash A, Theilmann DA, Ellis BE, Douglas CJ. 1998. 4-Coumarate: coenzyme A ligase in hybrid poplar. *Plant Physiol*. 116:743–54
- Anterola AM, Jeon J-H, Davin LB, Lewis NG. 2002. Transcriptional control of monolignol biosynthesis in *Pinus taeda*. Factors affecting monolignol ratios and carbon allocation in phenylpropanoid metabolism. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277:18272–80
- Atalla RH, Agarwal UP. 1985. Raman microprobe evidence for lignin orientation in the cell walls of native woody tissue. *Science* 227:636–38
- Atanassova R, Favet N, Martz F, Chabbert B, Tollier MT, et al. 1995. Altered lignin composition in transgenic

tobacco expressing *O*-methyltransferase sequences in sense and antisense orientation. *Plant J.* 8:465–77

- Bao W, O'Malley DM, Whetten R, Sederoff RR. 1993. A laccase associated with lignification in loblolly pine xylem. *Science* 260:672–74
- Bate NJ, Orr J, Ni W, Meromi A, Nadler-Hassar T, et al. 1994. Quantitative relationship between phenylalanine ammonia-lyase levels and phenylpropanoid accumulation in transgenic tobacco identifies a rate-determining step in natural product synthesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 91:7608–12
- Baucher M, Bernard-Vailhé MA, Chabbert B, Besle J-M, Opsomer C, et al. 1999. Down-regulation of cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase in transgenic alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.) and the impact on lignin composition and digestibility. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 39:437–47
- Baucher M, Chabbert B, Pilate G, Van Doorsselaere J, Tollier M-T, et al. 1996. Red xylem and higher lignin extractability by down-regulating a cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase in poplar (*Populus*)

tremula x P. alba). Plant Physiol. 112: 1479–90

- Baucher M, Monties B, Van Montagu M, Boerjan W. 1998. Biosynthesis and genetic engineering of lignin. *Crit. Rev. Plant Sci.* 17:125–97
- Bernard-Vailhé MA, Migné C, Cornu A, Maillot MP, Grenet E, et al. 1996. Effect of modification of the *O*methyltransferase activity on cell wall composition, ultrastructure and degradability of transgenic tobacco. *J. Sci. Food Agric.* 72:385–91
- 13. Blount JW, Korth KL, Masoud SA, Rasmussen S, Lamb C, Dixon RA. 2000. Altering expression of cinnamic acid 4hydroxylase in transgenic plants provides evidence for a feedback loop at the entry point into the phenylpropanoid pathway. *Plant Physiol.* 122:107–16
- Blount JW, Masoud S, Sumner LW, Huhman D, Dixon RA. 2002. Overexpression of cinnamate 4-hydroxylase leads to increased accumulation of acetosyringone in elicited tobacco cellsuspension cultures. *Planta* 214:902–10
- Bolwell GP, Buti VS, Davies DR, Zimmerlin A. 1995. The origin of the oxidative burst in plants. *Free Radic. Res.* 25:517–32
- Bolwell GP, Cramer CL, Lamb CJ, Schuch W, Dixon RA. 1986. L-Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase from *Phaseolus vulgaris*. Modulation of the levels of active enzyme by *trans*-cinnamic acid. *Planta* 169:97–107
- Caliskan M, Cuming AC. 1998. Spatial specificity of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-generating oxalate oxidase gene expression during wheat embryo germination. *Plant J.* 15:165–71
- Campbell MM, Sederoff RR. 1996. Variation in lignin content and composition. Mechanisms of control and implications for the genetic improvement of plants. *Plant Physiol.* 110:3–13
- Carpin S, Crèvecoeur M, de Meyer M, Simon P, Greppin H, Penel C. 2001. Identification of a Ca<sup>2+</sup>-pectate binding site

on an apoplastic peroxidase. *Plant Cell* 13:511–20

- Carpin S, Crèvecoeur M, Greppin H, Penel C. 1999. Molecular cloning and tissue-specific expression of an anionic peroxidase in zucchini. *Plant Physiol*. 120:799–810
- Carpita NC, Gibeaut DM. 1993. Structural models of primary cell walls in flowering plants: consistency of molecular structure with the physical properties of the walls during growth. *Plant J.* 3:1–30
- 22. Chabannes M, Barakate A, Lapierre C, Marita JM, Ralph J, et al. 2001. Strong decrease in lignin content without significant alteration of plant development is induced by simultaneous down-regulation of cinnamoyl CoA reductase (CCR) and cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase (CAD) in tobacco plants. *Plant J*. 28:257–70
- 23. Chabannes M, Ruel K, Yoshinaga A, Chabbert B, Jauneau A, et al. 2001. In situ analysis of lignins in transgenic tobacco reveals a differential impact of individual transformations on the spatial patterns of lignin deposition at the cellular and subcellular levels. *Plant J.* 28:271–82
- Chabbert B, Tollier MT, Monties B, Barrière Y, Argillier O. 1994. Biological variability in lignification of maize: expression of the brown midrib bm2 mutation. J. Sci. Food Agric. 64:455–60
- Chapple C. 1998. Molecular-genetic analysis of plant cytochrome P450dependent monooxygenases. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol. Plant Mol. Biol.* 49:311– 43
- Chapple CCS, Vogt T, Ellis BE, Somerville CR. 1992. An Arabidopsis mutant defective in the general phenylpropanoid pathway. *Plant Cell* 4:1413– 24
- Chen C, Meyermans H, Burggraeve B, De Rycke RM, Inoue K, et al. 2000. Cell-specific and conditional expression

of caffeoyl-CoA *O*-methyltransferase in poplar. *Plant Physiol.* 123:853–67

- 27a. Chen F, Kota P, Blount JW, Dixon RA. 2001. Chemical synthesis of caffeoyl and 5-OH coniferyl aldehydes and alcohols and determination of lignin *O*-methyltransferase activities in dicot and monocot species. *Phytochemistry* 58:1035–42
- Chen F, Yasuda S, Fukushima K. 1999. Evidence for a novel biosynthetic pathway that regulates the ratio of syringyl to guaiacyl residues in lignin in the differentiating xylem of *Magnolia kobus* DC. *Planta* 207:597–603
- Christensen JH, Baucher M, O'Connell AP, Van Montagu M, Boerjan W. 2000. Control of lignin biosynthesis. In *Molecular Biology of Woody Plants, Volume 1*, ed. SM Jain, SC Minocha, For. Sci., 64:227–67. Dordrecht: Kluwer. 520 pp.
- Christensen JH, Overney S, Rohde A, Ardiles Diaz W, Bauw G, et al. 2001. The syringaldazine-oxidizing peroxidase PXP 3-4 from poplar xylem: cDNA isolation, characterization and expression. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 47:581–93
- Davin LB, Lewis NG. 2000. Dirigent proteins and dirigent sites explain the mystery of specificity of radial precursor coupling in lignan and lignin biosynthesis. *Plant Physiol.* 123:453–61
- 32. Davin LB, Wang H-B, Crowell AL, Bedgar DL, Martin DM, et al. 1997. Stereoselective bimolecular phenoxy radical coupling by an auxiliary (dirigent) protein without an active center. *Science* 275:362–66
- 33. Dean JFD, LaFayette PR, Rugh C, Tristram AH, Hoopes JT, et al. 1998. Laccases associate with lignifying vascular tissues. In *Lignin and Lignan Biosynthesis* (ACS Symp. Series), ed. NG Lewis, S Sarkanen, 697:96–108. Washington, DC: Am. Chem. Soc. 436 pp.
- Dharmawardhana DP, Ellis BE, Carlson JE. 1995. A β-glucosidase from lodgepole pine xylem specific for the lignin

precursor coniferin. *Plant Physiol*. 107: 331–39

- Dharmawardhana DP, Ellis BE, Carlson JE. 1999. cDNA cloning and heterologous expression of coniferin β-glucosidase. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 40:365–72
- 36. Dixon RA, Chen F, Guo D, Parvathi K. 2001. The biosynthesis of monolignols: a "metabolic grid," or independant pathways to guaiacyl and syringyl units? *Phytochemistry* 57:1069–84
- Donaldson LA. 2001. Lignification and lignin topochemistry—an ultrastructural view. *Phytochemistry* 57:859–73
- Driouich A, Lainé A-C, Vian B, Faye L. 1992. Characterization and localization of laccase forms in stem and cell cultures of sycomore. *Plant J.* 2:13–24
- 39. Ehlting J, Büttner D, Wang Q, Douglas CJ, Somssich IE, Kombrink E. 1999. Three 4-coumarate:coenzyme A ligases in *Arabidopsis thaliana* represent two evolutionarily divergent classes in angiosperms. *Plant J*. 19:9–20
- El Mansouri I, Mercado JA, Santiago-Domenech N, Pliego-Alfaro F, Valpuesta V, Quesada MA. 1999. Biochemical and phenotypical characterization of transgenic tomato plants overexpressing a basic peroxidase. *Physiol. Plant.* 106:355– 62
- Elfstrand M, Fossdal CG, Sitbon F, Olsson O, Lönneberg A, von Arnold S. 2001. Overexpression of the endogenous peroxidase-like gene *spi 2* in transgenic Norway spruce plants results in increased total peroxidase activity and reduced growth. *Plant Cell Rep.* 20: 596–603
- Elfstrand M, Sitbon F, Lapierre C, Bottin A, von Arnold S. 2002. Altered lignin structure and resistance to pathogens in *spi* 2-expressing tobacco plants. *Planta* 214:708–16
- Elkind Y, Edwards R, Mavandad M, Hedrick SA, Ribak O, et al. 1990. Abnormal plant development and down-regulation of phenylpropanoid

biosynthesis in transgenic tobacco containing a heterologous phenylalanine ammonia-lyase gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 87:9057–61

- Fergus BJ, Goring DAI. 1970. The location of guaiacyl and syringyl lignins in birch xylem tissue. *Holzforschung* 24:113–17
- 45. Ferrer MA, Pedreño MA, Muñoz R, Ros Barceló A. 1990. Oxidation of coniferyl alcohol by cell wall peroxidases at the expense of indole-3-acetic acid and O<sub>2</sub>. A model for lignification of plant cell walls in the absence of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. *FEBS Lett.* 276:127–30
- 46. Franke R, Hemm MR, Denault JW, Ruegger MO, Humphreys JM, Chapple C. 2002. Changes in secondary metabolism and deposition of an unusual lignin in the *ref*8 mutant of *Arabidopsis*. *Plant J.* 30:47–59
- 47. Franke R, Humphreys JM, Hemm MR, Denault JW, Ruegger MO, et al. 2002. The Arabidopsis *REF8* gene encodes the 3-hydroxylase of phenylpropanoid metabolism. *Plant J.* 30:33–45
- 48. Franke R, McMichael CM, Meyer K, Shirley AM, Cusumano JC, Chapple C. 2000. Modified lignin in tobacco and poplar plants over-expressing the *Arabidopsis* gene encoding ferulate 5hydroxylase. *Plant J.* 22:223–34
- Freudenberg K. 1956. Beiträge zur Erforschung des Lignins. Angew. Chem. 68:508–12
- Freudenberg K, Neish AC, ed. 1968. Constitution and Biosynthesis of Lignin. Berlin: Springer-Verlag. 129 pp.
- 51. Gion JM, Boudet C, Grima-Pettenati J, Ham Pichavant F, Plomion C, Verhaegen D. 2001. A candidate genes approach identifies CCR, PAL and C4H as loci for syringyl/guaiacyl ratio in a interspecific hybrid between E. urophylla and E. grandis. Presented at Wood, Breed., Biotechnol. Ind. Expect. Meet., Bordeaux
- 52. Grabber JH, Ralph J, Hatfield RD, Quideau S. 1997. *p*-hydroxyphenyl, guaia-

cyl, and syringyl lignins have similar inhibitory effects on wall degradability. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 45:2530–32

- Guan S-Y, Mlynár J, Sarkanen S. 1997. Dehydrogenative polymerization of coniferyl alcohol on macromolecular lignin templates. *Phytochemistry* 45: 911–18
- Guo D, Chen F, Dixon RA. 2002. Monolignol biosynthesis in microsomal preparations from lignifying stems of alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.). *Phytochemistry* 61:657–67
- 55. Guo D, Chen F, Inoue K, Blount JW, Dixon RA. 2001. Downregulation of caffeic acid 3-O-methyltransferase and caffeoyl CoA 3-O-methyltransferase in transgenic alfalfa: impacts on lignin structure and implications for the biosynthesis of G and S lignin. *Plant Cell* 13: 73–88
- 56. Guo D, Chen F, Wheeler J, Winder J, Selman S, et al. 2001. Improvement of in-rumen digestibility of alfalfa forage by genetic manipulation of lignin O-methyltransferases. *Transgenic Res.* 10:457–64
- 57. Halpin C, Holt K, Chojecki J, Oliver D, Chabbert B, et al. 1998. *Brown-midrib* maize (*bm1*)—a mutation affecting the cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase gene. *Plant J*. 14:545–53
- Halpin C, Knight ME, Foxon GA, Campbell MM, Boudet AM, et al. 1994. Manipulation of lignin quality by downregulation of cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase. *Plant J.* 6:339–50
- Harding SA, Leshkevich J, Chiang VL, Tsai C-J. 2002. Differential substrate inhibition couples kinetically distinct 4coumarate: coenzyme A ligases with spatially distinct metabolic roles in quaking aspen. *Plant Physiol.* 128:428–38
- 59a. Hatfield RD, Grabber J, Ralph J. 1997. A potential role of sinapyl *p*-coummarate in grass lignin formation. *Plant Physiol. Suppl.* 114:86 (Abstr. #346)
- 60. Hatfield R, Vermerris W. 2001. Lignin

formation in plants. The dilemma of linkage specificity. *Plant Physiol.* 126:1351– 57

- He L, Terashima N. 1991. Formation and structure of lignin in monocotyledons. IV. Deposition process and structural diversity of the lignin in the cell wall of sugarcane and rice plant studied by ultraviolet microscopic spectroscopy. *Holzforschung* 45:191–98
- Hibino T, Takabe K, Kawazu T, Shibata D, Higuchi T. 1995. Increase of cinnamaldehyde groups in lignin of transgenic tobacco plants carrying an antisense gene for cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase. *Biosci. Biotech. Biochem.* 59:929–31
- 62a. Higuchi T, Ito T, Umezawa T, Hibino T, Shibata D. 1994. Red-brown coloration of lignified tissues of transgenic plants with antisense CAD gene: wine-red lignin from coniferaldehyde. *J. Biotechnol.* 37:151–58
- 62b. Hoffmann L, Maury S, Martz F, Geoffrey P, Legrand M. 2002. Purification, cloning and properties of an acyltransferase controlling shikimate and quinate ester intermediates in phenylpropanoid metabolism. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278:95–103
- Hosokawa M, Suzuki S, Umezawa T, Sato Y. 2001. Progress of lignification mediated by intercellular transportation of monolignols during tracheary element differentiation of isolated *Zinnia* mesophyll cells. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 42:959– 68
- 64. Howles PA, Sewalt VJH, Paiva NL, Elkind Y, Bate NJ, et al. 1996. Overexpression of L-phenylalanine ammonialyase in transgenic tobacco plants reveals control points for flux into phenylpropanoid biosynthesis. *Plant Physiol.* 112:1617–24
- 65. Hu W-J, Harding SA, Lung J, Popko JL, Ralph J, et al. 1999. Repression of lignin biosynthesis promotes cellulose accumulation and growth in transgenic trees. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 17:808–12

- 66. Hu W-J, Kawaoka A, Tsai C-J, Lung J, Osakabe K, et al. 1998. Compartmentalized expression of two structurally and functionally distinct 4-coumarate: CoA ligase genes in aspen *Populus tremuloides. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95:5407–12
- 67. Humphreys JM, Chapple C. 2002. Rewriting the lignin roadmap. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 5:224–29
- Humphreys JM, Hemm MR, Chapple C. 1999. New routes for lignin biosynthesis defined by biochemical characterization of recombinant ferulate 5-hydroxylase, a multifunctional cytochrome P450dependent monooxygenase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 96:10045–50
- Ishii T. 1997. Structure and functions of feruloylated polysaccharides. *Plant Sci.* 127:111–27
- Jin H, Cominelli E, Bailey P, Parr A, Mehrtens F, et al. 2000. Transcriptional repression by AtMYB4 controls production of UV-protecting sunscreens in *Arabidopsis*. *EMBO J.* 19:6150–61
- Jones L, Ennos AR, Turner SR. 2001. Cloning and characterization of *irregular xylem4* (*irx4*): a severely lignindeficient mutant of *Arabidopsis*. *Plant J*. 26:205–16
- 72. Joseleau J-P, Ruel K. 1997. Study of lignification by noninvasive techniques in growing maize internodes. An investigation by Fourier transform infrared cross-polarization-magic angle spinning <sup>13</sup>C-nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy and immunocytochemical transmission electron microscopy. *Plant Physiol.* 114:1123–33
- Jouanin L, Goujon T, de Nadaï V, Martin M-T, Mila I, et al. 2000. Lignification in transgenic poplars with extremely reduced caffeic acid *O*-methyltransferase activity. *Plant Physiol.* 123:1363–73
- 74. Kajita S, Hishiyama S, Tomimura Y, Katayama Y, Omori S. 1997. Structural characterization of modified lignin in transgenic tobacco plants in which the

activity of 4-coumarate: coenzyme A ligase is depressed. *Plant Physiol*. 114:871– 79

- 75. Kajita S, Katayama Y, Omori S. 1996. Alterations in the biosynthesis of lignin in transgenic plants with chimeric genes for 4-coumarate:coenzyme A ligase. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 37:957–65
- 76. Keller B, Templeton MD, Lamb CJ. 1989. Specific localization of a plant cell wall glycine-rich protein in protoxylem cells of the vascular system. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 86:1529–33
- 76a. Kim H, Ralph J, Lu F, Pilate G, Leplé JC, et al. 2002. Identification of the structure and origin of thioacidolysis marker compounds for cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase deficiency in angiosperms. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277:47412–19
- Lamb CJ. 1977. *trans*-cinnamic acid as a mediator of the light-stimulated increase in hydroxycinnamoyl-CoA: quinate hydroxycinnamoyl transferase. *FEBS Lett.* 75:37–40
- Lapierre C, Pollet B, Petit-Conil M, Toval G, Romero J, et al. 1999. Structural alterations of lignins in transgenic poplars with depressed cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase or caffeic acid *O*-methyltransferase activity have opposite impact on the efficiency of industrial Kraft pulping. *Plant Physiol.* 119:153–63
- 79. Lauvergeat V, Lacomme C, Lacombe E, Lasserre E, Roby D, Grima-Pettenati J. 2001. Two cinnamoyl-CoA reductase (CCR) genes from *Arabidopsis thaliana* are differentially expressed during development and in response to infection with pathogenic bacteria. *Phytochemistry* 57:1187–95
- Lee D, Meyer K, Chapple C, Douglas CJ. 1997. Antisense suppression of 4coumarate: coenzyme A ligase activity in Arabidopsis leads to altered lignin subunit composition. *Plant Cell* 9:1985– 98
- 81. Lewis NG. 1999. A 20th century roller

coaster ride: a short account of lignification. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 2:153–62

- 82. Li L, Cheng XF, Leshkevich J, Umezawa T, Harding SA, Chiang VL. 2001. The last step of syringyl monolignol biosynthesis in angiosperms is regulated by a novel gene encoding sinapyl alcohol dehydrogenase. *Plant Cell* 13:1567–85
- Li L, Popko JL, Umezawa T, Chiang VL. 2000. 5-Hydroxyconiferyl aldehyde modulates enzymatic methylation for syringyl monolignol formation, a new view of monolignol biosynthesis in angiosperms. J. Biol. Chem. 275:6537– 45
- Lim E-K, Li Y, Parr A, Jackson R, Ashford DA, Bowles DJ. 2001. Identification of glucosyltransferase genes involved in sinapate metabolism and lignin synthesis in *Arabidopsis*. J. Biol. Chem. 276:4344–49
- 84a. Lindermayr C, Möllers B, Fliegmann J, Uhlmann A, Lottspeich F, et al. 2002. Divergent members of a soybean (*Glycine* max L.) 4-coumarate:coenzyme A ligase gene family. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 269:1304– 15
- Lu F, Ralph J. 1999. Detection and determination of *p*-coumaroylated units in lignins. J. Agric. Food Chem. 47:1988– 92
- Lu F, Ralph J. 2002. Preliminary evidence for sinapyl acetate as a lignin monomer in kenaf. *Chem. Commun.* (1):90–91
- MacKay JJ, O'Malley DM, Presnell T, Booker FL, Campbell MM, et al. 1997. Inheritance, gene expression, and lignin characterization in a mutant pine deficient in cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94: 8255–60
- Marita JM, Ralph J, Hatfield RD, Chapple C. 1999. NMR characterization of lignins in *Arabidopsis* altered in the activity of ferulate 5-hydroxylase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 96:12328–32
- 89. Matsui N, Chen F, Yasuda S, Fukushima

K. 2000. Conversion of guaiacyl to syringyl moieties on the cinnamyl alcohol pathway during the biosynthesis of lignin in angiosperms. *Planta* 210:831–35

- 90. Matsui N, Fukushima K, Yasuda S, Terashima N. 1994. On the behavior of monolignol glucosides in lignin biosynthesis. II. Synthesis of monolignol glucosides labeled with <sup>3</sup>H at the hydroxymethyl group of side chain, and incorporation of the label into magnolia and ginkgo lignin. *Holzforschung* 48:375–80
- 91. Mavandad M, Edwards R, Liang X, Lamb CJ, Dixon RA. 1990. Effects of *trans*-cinnamic acid on expression of the bean phenylalanine ammonia-lyase gene family. *Plant Physiol*. 94:671–80
- 92. Meyer K, Shirley AM, Cusumano JC, Bell-Lelong DA, Chapple C. 1998. Lignin monomer composition is determined by the expression of a cytochrome P450-dependent monooxygenase in *Arabidopsis*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95:6619–23
- 93. Meyermans H, Morreel K, Lapierre C, Pollet B, De Bruyn A, et al. 2000. Modification in lignin and accumulation of phenolic glucosides in poplar xylem upon down-regulation of caffeoyl-coenzyme A *O*-methyltransferase, an enzyme involved in lignin biosynthesis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275:36899–909
- 94. Møller SG, McPherson MJ. 1998. Developmental expression and biochemical analysis of the *Arabidopsis atao1* gene encoding an H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>-generating diamine oxidase. *Plant J.* 13:781–91
- 95. Nakamura Y, Higuchi T. 1978. Ester linkage of *p*-coumaric acid in bamboo lignin. II. Syntheses of coniferyl *p*-hydroxybenzoate and coniferyl *p*coumarate as possible precursors of aromatic acid esters in lignin. *Cell. Chem. Technol.* 12:199–208
- 95a. Nair RB, Xia Q, Kartha CJ, Kurylo E, Hirji RN, Datla R, Selvaraj G. 2002. Arabidopsis CYP98A3 mediating aromatic 3-hydroxylation. Developmental regula-

tion of the gene, and expression in yeast. *Plant Physiol.* 130:210–20

- 95b. O'Connell A, Holt K, Piquemal J, Grima-Pettenati J, Boudet A, et al. 2002. Improved paper pulp from plants with suppressed cinnamoyl-CoA reductase or cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase. *Transgenic Res.* 11:495–503
  - 96. Ogawa K, Kanematsu S, Asada K. 1997. Generation of superoxide anion and localization of CuZn-superoxide dismutase in the vascular tissue of spinach hypocotyls: their association with lignification. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 38:1118– 26
- 97. Önnerud H, Zhang L, Gellerstedt G, Henriksson G. 2002. Polymerization of monolignols by redox shuttle-mediated enzymatic oxidation: a new model in lignin biosynthesis. I. *Plant Cell* 14:1953–62
- Osakabe K, Tsao CC, Li L, Popko JL, Umezawa T, et al. 1999. Coniferyl aldehyde 5-hydroxylation and methylation direct syringyl lignin biosynthesis in angiosperms. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 96:8955–60
- 99. Østergaard L, Teilum K, Mirza O, Mattsson O, Petersen M, et al. 2000. *Arabidopsis* ATP A2 peroxidase. Expression and high-resolution structure of a plant peroxidase with implications for lignification. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 44:231–43
- 100. Parvathi K, Chen F, Guo D, Blount JW, Dixon RA. 2001. Substrate preferences of *O*-methyltransferases in alfalfa suggest new pathways for 3-*O*-methylation of monolignols. *Plant J.* 25:193–202
- 101. Penel C, Greppin H. 1996. Pectin binding proteins: characterization of the binding and comparison with heparin. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* 34:479–88
- 102. Pickett-Heaps JD. 1968. Xylem wall deposition. Radioautographic investigations using lignin precursors. *Protoplasma* 65:181–205
- 103. Pilate G, Guiney E, Holt K, Petit-Conil M, Lapierre C, et al. 2002. Field and

pulping performances of transgenic trees with altered lignification. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 20:607–12

- 104. Pinçon G, Chabannes M, Lapierre C, Pollet B, Ruel K, et al. 2001. Simultaneous down-regulation of caffeic/ 5-hydroxy ferulic acid-O-methyltransferase I and cinnamoyl-coenzyme A reductase in the progeny from a cross between tobacco lines homozygous for each transgene. Consequences for plant development and lignin synthesis. *Plant Physiol.* 126:145–55
- 105. Pinçon G, Maury S, Hoffmann L, Geoffroy P, Lapierre C, et al. 2001. Repression of *O*-methyltransferase genes in transgenic tobacco affects lignin synthesis and plant growth. *Phytochemistry* 57:1167–76
- 106. Piquemal J, Lapierre C, Myton K, O'Connell A, Schuch W, et al. 1998. Down-regulation in cinnamoyl-CoA reductase induces significant changes of lignin profiles in transgenic tobacco plants. *Plant J.* 13:71–83
- 106a. Piquemal J, Chamayou S, Nadaud I, Beckert M, Barrière Y, et al. 2002. Down-regulation of caffeic acid Omethyltransferase in maize revisited using a transgenic approach. *Plant Physiol.* 130:1675–85
- 107. Provan GJ, Scobbie L, Chesson A. 1997. Characterisation of lignin from CAD and OMT deficient *bm* mutants of maize. *J. Sci. Food Agric*. 73:133–42
- 108. Quiroga M, Guerrero C, Botella MA, Barceló A, Amaya I, et al. 2000. A tomato peroxidase involved in the synthesis of lignin and suberin. *Plant Physiol.* 122:1119–27
- 109. Ralph J, Grabber JH, Hatfield RD. 1995. Lignin-ferulate crosslinks in grasses: active incorporation of ferulate polysaccharide esters into ryegrass lignins. *Carbohydr. Res.* 275:167–78
- 110. Ralph J, Hatfield RD, Piquemal J, Yahiaoui N, Pean M, et al. 1998. NMR characterization of altered lignins

extracted from tobacco plants downregulated for lignification enzymes cinnamyl-alcohol dehydrogenase and cinnamoyl-CoA reductase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95:12803–8

- 111. Ralph J, Kim H, Peng J, Lu F. 1999. Arylpropane-1,3-diols in lignins from normal and CAD-deficient pines. Org. Lett. 1:323–26
- 112. Ralph J, Lapierre C, Lu F, Marita JM, Pilate G, et al. 2001. NMR evidence for benzodioxane structures resulting from incorporation of 5hydroxyconiferyl alcohol into lignins of *O*-methyltransferase-deficient plants. J. Agric. Food Chem. 49:86–91
- 113. Ralph J, Lapierre C, Marita JM, Kim H, Lu F, et al. 2001. Elucidation of new structures in lignins of CAD- and COMT-deficient plants by NMR. *Phytochemistry* 57:993–1003
- 114. Ralph J, MacKay JJ, Hatfield RD, O'Malley DM, Whetten RW, Sederoff RR. 1997. Abnormal lignin in a loblolly pine mutant. *Science* 277:235–39
- Ralph J, Peng J, Lu F, Hatfield RD. 1999. Are lignins optically active? J. Agric. Food Chem. 47:2991–96
- 116. Ranocha P, Chabannes M, Chamayou S, Danoun S, Jauneau A, et al. 2002. Laccase down-regulation causes alterations in phenolic metabolism and cell wall structure in poplar. *Plant Physiol.* 129:145–55
- 117. Ranocha P, McDougall G, Hawkins S, Sterjiades R, Borderies G, et al. 1999. Biochemical characterization, molecular cloning and expression of laccases—a divergent gene family—in poplar. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 259:485–95
- 118. Rasmussen S, Dixon RA. 1999. Transgene-mediated and elicitorinduced perturbation of metabolic channeling at the entry point into the phenylpropanoid pathway. *Plant Cell* 11:1537–51
- Ro DK, Mah N, Ellis BE, Douglas CJ. 2001. Functional characterization and

subcellular localization of poplar (*Pop-ulus trichocarpa* × *Populus deltoides*) cinnamate 4-hydroxylase. *Plant Physiol.* 126:317–29

- 120. Ros-Barceló A, Pomar F, Ferrer MA, Martínez P, Ballesta MC, Pedreño MA. 2002. In situ characterization of a NOsensitive peroxidase in the lignifying xylem of *Zinnia elegans*. *Physiol. Plant*. 114:33–40
- 121. Ros-Barceló A, Pomar F, López-Serrano M, Martínez P, Pedreño MA. 2002. Developmental regulation of the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>producing system and of a basic peroxidase isoenzyme in the Zinnia elegans lignifying xylem. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 40:325–32
- Rouhi AM. 2001. Only facts will end the lignin war. Chem. Eng. News 79:52–56
- Roussel MR, Lim C. 1995. Dynamicmodel of lignin growing in restricted spaces. *Macromolecules* 28:370–76
- 124. Saka S, Goring DAI. 1985. Localization of lignins in wood cell walls. In *Biosynthesis and Biodegradation of Wood Components*, ed. T Higuchi, pp. 51–62. Orlando: Academic. 679 pp.
- 125. Samuels AL, Rensing K, Douglas CJ, Mansfield S, Dharmawardhana P, Ellis B. 2002. Cellular machinery of wood production: differentiation of secondary xylem in *Pinus contorta* var. latifolia. *Planta* 216:72–82
- 126. Sarkanen KV, Ludwig CH, ed. 1971. Lignins: Occurrence, Formation, Structure, and Reactions. New York: Wiley-Intersci. 916 pp.
- 127. Schoch G, Goepfert S, Morant M, Hehn A, Meyer D, et al. 2001. CYP98A3 from *Arabidopsis thaliana* is a 3'-hydroxylase of phenolic esters, a missing link in the phenylpropanoid pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 276:36566–74
- Sederoff RR, MacKay JJ, Ralph J, Hatfield RD. 1999. Unexpected variation in lignin. *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 2:145–52
- 129. Setälä H, Pajunen A, Rummakko P, Sipilä J, Brunow G. 1999. A novel type

of spiro compound formed by oxidative cross-coupling of methyl sinapate with a syringyl lignin model compound. A model system for the  $\beta$ -1 pathway in lignin biosynthesis. *J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1* 1999:461–64

- 130. Sewalt VJH, Ni W, Blount JW, Jung HG, Masoud SA, et al. 1997. Reduced lignin content and altered lignin composition in transgenic tobacco down-regulated in expression of L-phenylalanine ammonialyase or cinnamate 4-hydroxylase. *Plant Physiol.* 115:41–50
- Sewalt VJH, Ni W, Jung H, Dixon RA. 1997. Lignin impact on fiber degradation: increased enzymatic digestibility of genetically engineered tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum*) stems reduced in lignin content. J. Agric. Food Chem. 45:1977– 83
- 132. Steeves C, Förster H, Pommer U, Savidge R. 2001. Coniferyl alcohol metabolism in conifers. I. Glucosidic turnover of cinnamyl aldehydes by UDPG: coniferyl alcohol glucosyltransferase from pine cambium. *Phytochemistry* 57:1085–93
- Sterjiades R, Dean JFD, Eriksson K-EL. 1992. Laccase from sycamore maple (*Acer pseudoplatanus*) polymerizes monolignols. *Plant Physiol*. 99:1162–68
- 134. Stewart D, Yahiaoui N, McDougall GJ, Myton K, Marque C, et al. 1997. Fouriertransform infrared and Raman spectroscopic evidence for the incorporation of cinnamaldehydes into the lignin of transgenic tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum* L.) plants with reduced expression of cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase. *Planta* 201:311–18
- 135. Syrjanen K, Brunow G. 2000. Regioselectivity in lignin biosynthesis. The influence of dimerization and crosscoupling. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1:183–87
- 136. Takahama U, Oniki T. 1994. Effects of ascorbate on the oxidation of derivatives

of hydroxycinnamic acid and the mechanism of oxidation of sinapic acid by cell wall-bound peroxidases. *Plant Cell Physiol.* 35:593–600

- 137. Tanahashi M, Higuchi T. 1990. Effect of the hydrophobic regions of hemicelluloses on dehydrogenative polymerization of sinapyl alcohol. *Mokuzai Gakkaishi* 36:424–28
- 138. Terashima N, Atalla RH, Ralph SA, Landucci LL, Lapierre C, Monties B. 1995. New preparation of lignin polymer models under conditions that approximate cell wall lignification. Part 1. *Holzforschung* 49:521–27
- 139. Terashima N, Fukushima K, He LF, Takabe K. 1993. Comprehensive model of the lignified plant cell wall. In *Forage Cell Wall Structure and Digestibility*, ed. HG Jung, DR Buxton, RD Hatfield, J Ralph, pp. 247–70. Madison: ASA-CSSA-SSSA. 794 pp.
- 140. Terashima N, Seguchi Y. 1988. Heterogeneity in formation of lignin. IX. Factors influencing the formation of condensed structures in lignins. *Cellulose Chem. Technol.* 22:147–54
- 141. Timell TE, ed. 1986. Compression Wood in Gymnosperms, Vol. 1: Bibliography, Historical Background, Determination, Structure, Chemistry, Topochemistry, Physical Properties, Origin, and Formation of Compression Wood. Berlin: Springer-Verlag. 706 pp.
- 142. Tognolli M, Penel C, Greppin H, Simon P. 2002. Analysis and expression of the class III peroxidase large gene family in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Gene* 288:129– 38
- 143. Trethewey RN, Krotzky AJ, Willmitzer L. 1999. Metabolic profiling: a Rosetta stone for genomics? *Curr. Opin. Plant Biol.* 2:83–85
- 144. Ulbrich B, Zenk MH. 1980. Partial purification and properties of para-hydro-

xycinnamoyl-CoA-shikimate-para-hydroxycinnamoyl transferase from higher plants. *Phytochemistry* 19:1625–29

- 145. Van Doorsselaere J, Baucher M, Chognot E, Chabbert B, Tollier M-T, et al. 1995. A novel lignin in poplar trees with a reduced caffeic acid/5-hydroxyferulic acid O-methyltransferase activity. *Plant J.* 8:855–64
- 146. Vignols F, Rigau J, Torres MA, Capellades M, Puigdomènech P. 1995. The brown midrib3 (bm3) mutation in maize occurs in the gene encoding caffeic acid O-methyltransferase. Plant Cell 7:407– 16
- Vogel KP, Jung HJG. 2001. Genetic modification of herbaceous plants for feed and fuel. *Crit. Rev. Plant Sci.* 20:15–49
- 147a. Yamauchi K, Yasuda S, Fukushima K. 2002. Evidence for the biosynthetic pathway from sinapic acid to syringyl lignin using labeled sinapic acid with stable isotope at both methoxy groups in *Robinia pseudoacacia* and *Nerium indicum. J. Agric. Food Chem.* 22:3222–27
- 148. Ye Z-H, Kneusel RE, Matern U, Varner JE. 1994. An alternative methylation pathway in lignin biosynthesis in *Zinnia*. *Plant Cell* 6:1427–39
- 149. Zhong R, Morrison WH III, Himmelsbach DS, Poole FL II, Ye Z-H 2000. Essential role of caffeoyl coenzyme A Omethyltransferase in lignin biosynthesis in woody poplar plants. *Plant Physiol.* 124:563–77
- Zhong R, Morrison WH III, Negrel J, Ye Z-H. 1998. Dual methylation pathways in lignin biosynthesis. *Plant Cell* 10:2033–46
- 151. Zubieta C, Kota P, Ferrer J-L, Dixon RA, Noel JP. 2002. Structural basis for the modulation of lignin monomer methylation by caffeic acid/5-hydroxyferulic acid 3/5-O-methyltransferase. *Plant Cell* 14:1265–77



See legend on next page

Lignin monomers and structures in the polymer. (Monomers) Lignins de-Figure 1 rive primarily from the three traditional monolignols, the hydroxycinnamyl alcohols: M1H, M1G, and M1S. The fourth hydroxycinnamyl alcohol, M15H, is a significant monomer in COMT-deficient plants. Aldehydes M2 and M3 probably incorporate into all lignins and increasingly so in CAD-deficient plants. Hydroxycinnamate esters M4, particularly ferulates M4G, incorporate into lignins in grasses. Dihydroconiferyl alcohol M5G, and the guaiacylpropane-1,3-diol M6G derived from it, are monomers in softwood lignification and are highly elevated in a CAD-deficient *Pinus taeda* mutant; whether the syringyl analogs are also produced and incorporated into angiosperms is not known. Arylglycerols M7 are implicated by glycerol structures X7 in lignins, but may come from the isolation process. Variously acylated monolignols M9-M11 are implicated in many plants. Tyramine hydroxycinnamate M8, particularly tyramine ferulate M8G, appears to be a monomer in tobacco lignins. Note that it is conventional to use  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\gamma$  for the side chain positions in the hydroxycinnamyl alcohols **M1** and related products, but 7, 8, and 9 for the analogous positions in hydroxycinnamyl aldehydes M2 and hydroxycinnamate esters M4 and M8. Bracketed compounds have not been established as authentic monomers. (Lignin Polymer Units) Units are generally denoted based on the methoxyl substitution on the aromatic ring as **H**, **G**, **S** (and **5H**); dashed bonds represent other potential attachments via coupling reactions. The most common structures in ligning from normal and transgenic plants are shown as structures A-L with the bond formed during the radical coupling step (in bold); p-hydroxyphenyl units are not shown. The dashed bonds indicate substitutions by methoxyl (in syringyl components) or other attachments from coupling reactions; generic side chains are truncated (zigzag lines). Most units arise from cross-coupling reactions of a monomer with the growing polymer or by polymer-polymer coupling reactions. Resinol units C are from monolignol-monolignol coupling (followed by further cross-coupling reactions). Most 5–5-linked units **D** are in the form of dibenzodioxocins **D2**. *bis*-Aryl ether units A2 are rare in most lignins, but relatively prevalent in tobacco. Units A3 are seen in isolated ligning but may result from the isolation process. Units F,  $\beta$ -1 structures, may not occur in lignins as drawn but as spirodienones, for example (129). Benzodioxanes  $\mathbf{J}$  are the main units resulting from the incorporation of 5-hydroxyconiferyl alcohol M15H monomers into lignins, particularly in COMT-deficient angiosperms. Units K are prevalent in CAD-deficient angiosperms and arise from endwise coupling of hydroxycinnamyl aldehydes M2 into lignins. Unit L is a single example of a ferulate-monolignol cross-coupling product seen in grass lignins. (End Groups) End groups arise from coupling reactions that are not at the sidechain  $\beta$ -position. Hydroxycinnamyl end groups X1 arise from dimerization reactions and represent only a small percentage of the units (2). End groups X2 to X6 derive from the corresponding monomers M2–M6; X6b is possibly an isolation artifact from oxidation of X6 units. Glycerols X7 may be from monomers M7 or may be produced during ball milling from  $\beta$ -ether units **A**. ( $\gamma$ -Acylated Units) Any of the units **A**-L bearing a  $\gamma$ -OH may also bear an acyl group, partial structures **Y1–Y3**. They arise almost certainly from the corresponding monolignols M9-M11. (Miscellaneous) Finally, some other groups resulting from incorporation reactions are not accommodated by the other structures. Partial structures **Z1** arise from incorporation of monomer **M8**; general aldehydes can arise from hydroxycinnamyl aldehyde monomers M2; general esters result from the incorporation of ferulates and dehydrodiferulates.



activity. Note: Cut transverse ends have been marked with paint to identify the line; see inset for unpainted transverse section showing **Figure 4** Stem xylem phenotype of transgenic poplar downregulated for CAD. Debarked stems of 4-year-old, field-grown wild type (*left*) and transgenic poplar with reduced CAD activity (right), displaying the bright-red xylem coloration typical of plants with reduced CAD restriction of the red color to developing xylem (© Nature McMillan, reprinted with permission).